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6 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

7 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

° JUANA MONREAL, an Individual, Civil No. 13cv743 AJB (NLS)
° Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING
10| v. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO
s emenosresseera f

[EEN
N

CORPORATION; DEUTSCHE BANK
NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, A
FEDERALLY CHARTERED
BANKING INSTITUTION, AS
TRUSTEE PURSUANT TO THE
HARBOURVIEW MORTGAGE
LOAN PASS-THROUGH
CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-14;
EXECUTIVE TRUSTEE SERVICES
LLC D/B/A ETS SERVICES, LLC;
MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC,;
ALL PERSONS UNKNOWN
CLAIMING ANY LEGAL OR
EQUITABLE RIGHT, TITLE,
ESTATE, LIEN OR INTEREST IN
THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN
THE COMPLAINT ADVERSE TO
PLAINTIEF'S TITLE, OR ANY
CLOUD ON PLAINTIEF'S TITLE
THERETO, AND DOES 1-50,
INCLUSIVE,

Defendants.
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Presently before the Court is Detlants GMAC Mortgage, LLC (“GMAC"),
Executive Trustee Services, LLC, dba ES&vices, LLC (“ETS”), and Mortgage
Electronic Registration System, Inc. (“MER%collectively, “Defendants”) motion to
dismiss, (Doc. No. 4), Plaintiff Juana Mogdt's (“Plaintiff”) Complaint, (Doc. No. 1).
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In accordance with Civil Local Rule 7.11dthe Court finds the motion suitable for
determination on the papers and without argument. Accordingly, the motion hearir

19

scheduled for June 20, 2013 is hereby vaceFor the reasons set forth below, the Court

GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss in its entirety providing Plaintiff limited lea
to amend the complaint in compliance with this order.
BACKGROUND

On August 17, 2006, Plaintiff borrowed $301,600.00 (“the Loan”) from Suntrt
Mortgage, Inc. (“Suntrust”) to purchaiee property located at 4414 Newton Ave., Sa
Diego, California 92113 (“the Property”). ¢@pl. 11 26, 27.) The Loan was memorig
ized by a Promissory Note (the “Note”) aretared by a Deed of Trust (“Deed of Trus
on the Property.Id. at 27, Ex. A; Doc. No. 4, ER.) The Deed of Trust named MER
as the beneficiary and Jackie Miller as thet#es (Doc. No. 1, Ex. A; Doc. No. 4, Ex.
2.) On August 24, 2012, MERS assigned theefieial interest in the Deed of Trust
(“Assignment of the Deed of Trust”) @eutsche Bank National Trust Company as

trustee for Haborview Mortgage Loan Trdortgage Loan Pass-Through Certificates
Series 2006-14 (“Deutsche Bank”). (Compl., BxDoc. No. 4, Ex. 3.) The Assignme
of the Deed of Trust was recorded ie tificial records of the San Diego County
Recorder’s Office on August 31, 2012, as Document No.: 2012-05278568.Qn
October 4, 2012, Deutscheidasubstituted ETS as trustee under the Deed of Trust
(“Substitution of Trustee”). (Doc. No. 1, E&; Doc. No. 4, Ex. 4.) The Substitution o
Trustee was recorded in tb#icial records of the San Diego County Recorder’s Offic
on November 9, 2012, as Document No.: 2012-0701420). (

On November 7, 2012, ETS, as trustee utideDeed of Trust, issued a notice ¢
default and election to sell under the deettwst (“Notice of Default”). (Compl., Ex. D
Doc. No. 4, Ex. 5.) The Notice of Defaulattd that as of November 7, 2012, Plaintiff
was in default of the Loan in the amount of $29,987.00.) (The Notice of Default alsg
informed Plaintiff that she must contact Dstlie Bank to arrange for payment in orde
stop foreclosure of the Propertyid.) The Notice of Default warecorded in the official
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records of the San Diego County Recorder’s Office on November 9, 2012, as Docd
No.: 2012-0701421.1d.) On February 12, 2012, ETS recorded a notice of trustee’s
(“Notice of Trustee’s Sale”) in the offigi records of the San Diego County Recorder’
Office as Document No.: 2013-0103723. (Conipk, E; Doc. No. 4, Ex. 6.) The Notig
of Trustee’s Sale informed Plaintiff thite unpaid balance on the Loan was currently
$360,222.88. I(l.) The Notice of Trustee Sale alséammed Plaintiff that the sale of th
Property would take place on March 12, 20118l.) (On March 14, 2013, after the
Property was sold at auction, ETS executédistee’s deed (“Truse Deed”), indicating
that the Property had been sold to AslaniéRedial I, LLC. (Doc. No. 4, Ex. 7.) The
Trustee Deed was recordedtie official records of the San Diego County Recorder’s
Office on March 29, 2013, as Document No.: 2013-02002ki) (

Plaintiff filed the instant complaint on March 28, 2013. (Doc. No. 1.) The
complaint alleged ten causes of action:\ip)ation of California’s Unfair Competition
Law (“UCL"), Bus. & Prof. Code § 1720@t seq. (2) intentional misrepresentation; (3
negligent misrepresentation; (4) fraudulent concealment; (5) quiet title; (6) declarat
relief; (7) violation of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 16@&t,seq; (8)
violation of the Home Ownership andjity Protection Act (“‘HOEPA”), 15 U.S.C. §
1639,et seq (9) violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”)
U.S.C. 88 2601et seqg.and (10) violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
(“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 8§ 169t seq. Plaintiff was originally proceeding pro se, but
elected to retain counsel before filing apense to Defendants’ instant motion. (Doc.
Nos. 11, 13.)

LEGAL STANDARD

l. Motion to Dismiss

Dismissal is appropriate under FederaleRaf Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) when a
plaintiff's allegations fail “to state a clai upon which relief can be granted.” Fed. R.
Civ. P. 12(b)(6). In ruling on a motion tlismiss, the court must “accept all material
allegations of fact as true and construg ¢bmplaint in a light most favorable to the
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non-moving party.”Vasquez v. L.A. Cn{y487 F.3d 1246, 1249 (9th Cir. 2007). Cour
are not however, “bound to accept as true a legaclusion couched as a factual alleg;
tion.” Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 664, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949-50 (2009).

A Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal “can be basedtloa lack of a cognizable legal theory
the absence of sufficient facts alldgender a cognizable legal theoryBalistreri v.
Pacifica Police Dep’t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990). To survive a motion to
dismiss, a plaintiff must plead “enough factstate a claim to relief that is plausible ol
its face.” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombjyp50 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1960
(2007). Plausibility does not equate to probability, but it requires “more than a she
possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfulligbal, 556 U.S. at 664, 129 S. Ct. at
1949. “A claim has facial plausibility whehe plaintiff pleads factual content that
allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for th
misconduct alleged.ld. Dismissal of claims that fail to meet this standard should b{

with leave to amend unless it is clear taamtendment could not possibly cure the comt

plaint’s deficiencies.See Steckman v. Hart Brewing, .\nt43 F.3d 1293, 1296 (9th Cir
1998).

Under Rule 12(b)(6), complaints ailieg fraud must satisfy the heightened
pleading requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b). Rule 9(b) requires
all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake s
stated with particularity. Fed. R. Civ. 9(b). Malice, intent, knowledge, and other
conditions of a person’s mind may be alléggenerally. A pleading is sufficient under
Rule 9(b) if it “state[s] the time, place andesfic content of the false representations
well as the identities of the parties to the misrepresentatigist. Serv. Workers,
Drivers & Helpers v. Philco—Ford Corp661 F.2d 776, 782 (9th Cir. 1981) (citations
omitted);see also Vess v. Ciba—Geigy Corp. USE/ F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th Cir. 2003)
(quotingCooper v. Pickeft137 F.3d 616, 627 (9th Cir. 1997)) (“Averments of fraud
must be accompanied by ‘the who, what, when, where, and how’ of the misconduc
charged.”). Additionally, “the plaintiff ma&t plead facts explaining why the statement
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was false when it was madeSmith v. Allstate Ins. Co160 F. Supp. 2d 1150, 1152
(S.D. Cal. 2001) (citation omitted). Regardless of the title given to a particular clair
allegations grounded in fraud are subjedRtde 9(b)’s pleading requirementSee Vess
317 F.3d at 1103-04. Thus, even where fraud is not an essential element of a cons
protection claim, Rule 9(b) applies whereomplaint “rel[ies] entirely on [a fraudulent
course of conduct] as the bases of thattlai . the claim is said to be ‘grounded in
fraud’ or to ‘sound in fraud,” and the pleading . . . as a whole must satisfy the partic
requirement of Rule 9(b).Kearns v. Ford Motor Co567 F.3d 1120, 1125 (9th Cir.
2009) (quotingvess 317 F.3d at 1103-04).

DISCUSSION
l. Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice

Defendants seek judicial notice of seven documents: (1) Grant Deed (Exhibit
(2) Deed of Trust (Exhibit 2); (3) Assignment of the Deed of Trust (Exhibit 3); (4)
Substitution of Trustee (Exhibit 4); (5) Notice of Default (Exhibit 5); (6) Notice of
Trustee’s Sale (Exhibit 6); and (7) Truse®eed upon Sale (Exhibit 7). (Doc. No. 5.)
The first six exhibits were attached to Ptdfis complaint and Plaintiff did not otherwis
object to Defendants’ request. (Compl., Exs. A-E.) Accordingly, because each of 1
documents was recorded in the offiatords of the San Diego County Recorder’s
Office, the Court grants Defendants’ request with respect to all seven docuSeats.
Fed. R. Evid. 201(b)(2) (stating that the court may take notice of facts that are “not

subject to reasonable dispute in that [thes} ar . capable of accate and ready determit

nation by resort to sources whose aacyrcannot be reasonably questionedRgyn’s
Pasta Bella, LLC v. Visa USA, Ind42 F.3d 741, 746 n.6 (9th Cir. 2006) (finding that
matters that are part of the puliecord may be judicially noticed).
lI. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss

Defendants move to dismiss the entire complaint on three grounds: (1) Plaint
not alleged she can tender the full amadurt and owing on the Loan; (2) un@&mes
v. Countywide192 Cal. App. 4th 1149 (Cal. Ct. App. 2011), Plaintiff does not have
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standing to bring a judicial action to chalggee the validity of the nonjudicial foreclosuré
and (3) notwithstanding Plaintiff's inability to tender the amount due or Plaintiff's
standing to challenge the foreclosure/salthefProperty, each of Plaintiff's claims falil
for separate, independent reasons. (Doc4Na 3-4.) The Court considers each of
Plaintiff's individual causes of action inrty addressing Defendants’ arguments regai
ing tender and standing as applicable.

A.  Violation of the UCL

Plaintiff's first cause of action is for unfair competition in violation of the UCL.
(Compl. 11 69-81.) California BusinessdaProfessions Code Section 17200 defines
unfair competition as “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice” a
any “unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleademgyvertising.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17200. Because the statute is written in tisgudctive, it prohibits three separate type
of unfair competition: (Lunlawfulacts or practices, (2infair acts or practices, and (3)
fraudulentacts or practicesCel-Tech Commc'ns, Inc. v. L.A. Cellular Tel. Gf) Cal.
4th 163, 180 (Cal. 1999) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff alleges Defendants violated #iree subparts of the UCL. (Compl. 11 7

1”4

d-

|92

1,

74, 76.) As aresult, Plaintiff seeks an order requiring Defendants to restore all mopies

and property that may have been acquired @sult of the alleged unfair, deceptive,
and/or unlawful business acts or practicestitution for out-of-pocket expenses and
economic harm, and prejudgment interesd. &t 7 78-80.) Defendants move to disn
this cause of action on the basis that Plaintiff fails to allege any unlawful, unfair, or
fraudulent business practices because ebte underlying predicate acts in the
complaint also fail. (Doc. No. 4 at 10-11.)
1. Unlawful, Unfair, and Fraudulent Conduct

By proscribing “any unlawful” business practice, Section 17200 “borrows”
violations of other laws and treats them as unlawful practices that the unfair compe
law makes independently actionable. CalsBerof. Code § 17204. Thus “violation of

almost any federal, state, or local law nsayve as the basis for a[n] [unfair competition]

6 13v743 AJB (JMA)

ISS

tition




© 00 N oo O M~ W N PP

N NN NN N N NDND P B P B P P PP re
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N O o » W N B O

claim.” Plascencia v. Lending 1st Mort&83 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1098 (N.D. Cal. 200{
(citing Saunders v. Super. CR7 Cal. App. 4th 832, 838-39 (Cal. Ct. App. 1994). To
establish “fraudulent acts” under the UCL, aiptiff must demonstrate that reasonable
“members of the public are likely to be deceive@Villiams v. Gerber Prods. Cadb52

F.3d 934, 938 (9th Cir. 2008). Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b), allegati

fraud or mistake must be stated “with particularityFurthermore, although the Califort

nia Supreme Court has yet to define “unfair'the context of a consumer action, many
courts of appeal have held that “an unfaisiness practice occurs when it offends an
established public policy or when the praetis immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscr
pulous or substantially injurious to consumerdlorgan v. AT&T Wireless Seryd77
Cal. App. 4th 1235, 1254 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009)ltetnatively, an act is “unfair” under th
UCL “if the consumer injury is substaal, is not outweighed by any countervailing
benefits to consumers or to competition, and is not an injury the consumers themsg
could have reasonably avoidedBerryman v. Merit Prop. Mgmt., Incl52 Cal. App. 4th
1544, 1555 (Cal. Ct. App. 2006).

With regard to the unlawful prong, Plaintiff alleges Defendants committed
unlawful business practices by using fraudtubamd ineffective documents to illegiti-
mately foreclose upon and sell the property at auction. (Compl. I 76.) Plaintiff hoy

PDNS C

<

e

blves

vevel

does not articulate which statute(s) Defendants allegedly violated, or specify the roje of

each individual Defendant in this fraudulent schei®ee Swartz v. KPMG LL.R76
F.3d 756, 765 (9th Cir. 2007) (citiddoore v. Kayport Package Express, .|r885 F.2d
531, 541 (9th Cir. 1989)). Therefore, the complaint fails to meet the requirements ¢
Rule 9(b), as it does not inform Defendants of which law(s) Plaintiff alleges were

! Rule 9(b) serves three purposes: (Ipriavide defendants with adequate notice
allow them to defend the charge and detampiffs from the fllln%of complaints “as a
pretext for the discovery of unknown wrongs”; (2) to protect those whose reputatior
would be harmed as a result of being subject to fraud charges; and (3) to “prohibit
plaintiff[s] from unilaterally imposing upon éhcourt, the parties and society enormou
social and economic costs absent some factual basig Stac Elecs. Sec. |t|(i39
F.3d 1399, 1405 (9th Cir. 1996) (quotiS8gmegen v. Weidnet80 F.2d 727, 731 (9th
Cir. 1985)) (internal quotations omitted, brackets in original).
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violated, and how each Defendant allegedblated the specific law(s). Although the
Court can infer that Plaintiff intended to rely on the other violations alleged in the

complaint, such reliance fails to defeatf@elants’ motion to dismiss for three reasons.

First, Plaintiff must clearly allege (withithe UCL cause of action) which law(s) or
statute(s) she intends to utilize as the predicate acts under the unlawful prong. Se
even though Plaintiff listed several statutesaleges were violated in different areas
the complaint, including the background section, merely listing statutes without arti
ing specific facts to satisfy each elementrd identified statute is insufficienEee
Bejou v. Bank of America, N,ANo. F 13-0125 LJO SMS, 2013 WL 1759126, at *5
(E.D. Cal. Apr. 24, 2013Saldate v. Wilshire Credit Corp686 F. Supp. 2d 1051, 1067
(E.D. Cal. 2010) (“The complaint’s bare refiece to federal statutes and common law
claims provides not the slightest inference {tia plaintiff] has a viable UCL claim.”).
And third, as stated below, because tloei€dismisses each of Plaintiff's individual
claims, none of these claims can servéhaspredicate acts under the UCL'’s unlawful

prong.

Plaintiff's claims under the unfair and fraudulent prongs are similarly defective.

Both of these claims allege Defendacwsnmitted unfair and fraudulent acts by delive
ing and posting the Notice of Trustee’s Sale and proceeding with the sale of the Pr|
without the legal authority to do so. (Com®f 71, 74.) These are the same allegatig
Plaintiff utilized to support her intentionalisrepresentation, negligent misrepresenta
tion, and fraudulent concealment claims. (Compl. {1 82-109.) As stated below, ng
these allegations meet the heightened plepsiandard under Rule 9(b) because Plair
fails to allege how each individual Defemdigarticipated in the alleged fraudulent

scheme. Moreover, because Plaintiff's gditons with respect to the unfair and fraudt

lent prongs are dependent on Plaintiff's contentions that the Trustee’s Sale was vojd

because Defendants did not have standing to foreclose on the Property, (which is i
with Plaintiff's other allegations that this@ascontract case and not a wrongful foreclog
case), such allegations also fail becauseEBff has not alleged sufficient facts to
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support her willingness and ability to tendez thll amount due under the Loan. Simply

stating she will tender the amount due and owing in insuffici8aeMitchell v. Bank of
Americg No.: 10cv432 L (WVG), 2011 WL 334988, *3 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 31, 2GEB;

also Briosos v. Wells Fargo Bank37 F. Supp. 2d 1018, 1029 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (“Wh
Plaintiff has alleged an ‘ability to tenderPlaintiff's allegation is conclusory and there
are no other facts in the Complaint demonstrating such an ability.”). Furthermore,

Plaintiff's other claims, this argument is also without merit as the Court grants Def
dants’ motion to dismiss in its entirety.
Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff h&asled to state a claim under either the

unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent prongs of the UCL. Accordingly, Plaintiff's first cause

action for violation of the UCL is DISMISSED without prejudice.

B. Intentional Misrepresentation, Negligent Misrepresentation, and
Fraudulent Concealment

Plaintiff's second, third, and fourth cagsef action allege intentional misreprese

tation (count two), negligent misrepreseéiuta (count three), and fraudulent concealm;
(count four). (Compl. 1 82-109.) The basis of each of these causes of action is P,
tiff's belief that Defendants sent her a noticdrastee’s sale indicating that they had &
lawful right to foreclose upon and sell theoperty, when in fact, such representations
were false, Defendants knew such representations were false, Defendants concea
truth of these matters from Plaintiff, and as a result, Plaintiff suffered direct financig
harm. (d. at 1 83, 88, 89, 94, 96, 99, 100, 102, 106.) With respect to the fourth c:
action for fraudulent concealment, Plaintféo alleges that Defendants were bound tt
disclose the truth of these concealed fdmi$ failed to disclose such facts in order to
induce Plaintiff to surrender the Property without challendgk. af 1 103, 104.)
Defendants move to dismiss all three fraud Bad@ims on the basis that Plaintiff lacks
standing to challenge the nonjudicial forecl@ssiale and the allegations fail to meet t
specificity required by Rule 9(b).
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Under California law, “[t]he elements oftentional misrepresentation, or actual
fraud, are: ‘(1) misrepresentation (false representation, concealment, or nondisclos
(2) knowledge of falsity (scienter); (3) imieto defraud (i.e., to induce reliance); (4)
justifiable reliance; and (5) resulting damage Ahderson v. Deloitte & Touch&6 Cal
App. 4th 1468, 1474, 66 Cal. Rptr. 2d 512 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997). To assert a claim
negligent misrepresentation, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the misrepresentation of a |
existing material fact; (2) without reasonalgiround for believing it to be true; (3) with
the intent to induce another’s reliance onfte misrepresented; (4) justifiable reliancs
on the misrepresentation; and (5) resulting damé@gmllo Capital Fund, LLC v. Roth
Capital Partners, LLC158 Cal. App. 4th 226, 243 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007). To establis

cause of action for fraudulent concealment, a plaintiff must plead and prove five el¢

ments: (1) the defendant must have corextal suppressed a material fact; (2) the
defendant must have been under a duty to disclose the fact to the plaintiff; (3) the
defendant must have intentionally concealeduppressed the fact with the intent to
defraud the plaintiff; (4) the plaintiff mukiave been unaware of the fact and would n¢
have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or suppressed fact; and (5)
result of the concealment or suppression efftitt, the plaintiff must have sustained
damage.Mktg. West, Inc. v. Sanyo Fisher (USA) CpépCal. App. 4th 603, 612-13, 7
Cal. Rptr. 2d 859 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992).

Claims alleging intentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresentation, a
fraudulent concealment all sound in fraud and thust be pled with particularity undel
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b$eeVess v. Ciba—Geigy Corp. US2L7 F.3d
1097, 1103 (9th Cir. 2003) (“Rule 9(b)’s pattarity requirement applies to state-law

causes of action.”). “Averments of fraud shlbe accompanied by ‘the who, what, whe

where, and how’ of the misconduct chargettl’ at 1106 (quotingooper v. Pickeftl37
F.3d 616, 627 (9th Cir. 1997)). “ [A] plaintifhust set forth more than the neutral fac
necessary to identify the trantiaa. The plaintiff must set forth what is false or misle

ing about a statement, and why it is falseld” at 1106 (quotindpecker v. GlenFed, Ind.
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(In re GlenFed, Inc. Sec. Litig42 F.3d 1541, 1548 (9th Cir. 1994)). “While stateme
of the time, place and nature of the géld fraudulent activities are sufficient, mere
conclusory allegations of fraud” are ndfloore v. Kayport Package Express, .[r885
F.2d 531, 540 (9th Cir. 1989). Moreover,‘the context of a fraud suit involving
multiple defendants, a plaintiff must, atrenimum, ‘identif[y] the role of [each]
defendant[ ] in the alleged fraudulent schemeSwartz 476 F.3d at 765 (citinjloore,
885 F.2d at 541).

The Court finds each of Plaintiff's fraud based claims fail for lack of specificity
under Rule 9(b), and Plaintiff nevertheless fastanding to challenge the propriety of
nonjudicial foreclosure. Plaintiff has not alleged any specific information about wh
made the alleged misrepresentations, wheratleged misrepresentations were made,
content or form of the represenations, and which Defendéedgedly made which
representations. Instead, Plaintiff allegest the Notice of Trustee’s Sale, which was
sent by ETS, contained misrepresentatiarisch Defendants jointly knew were false.
Thus, Plaintiff does not identify the role @ich Defendants in the alleged “fraudulent
scheme,” as required under Rule 9(b). Morepas stated in more detail below, tende
of the amount owed is a condition precederdny claim for wrongful foreclosure or
challenge to an irregularity in a foreclosure sebee Abdallah v. United Sav. Badi
Cal. App. 4th 1101, 1109, 51 Cal. Rptr. 2d 28896 (tender rule applies to any cause
action for irregularity in sales procedurdlthough Plaintiff goes to great lengths to
convince the Court that this is a contract case and not a foreclosure case, Plaintiff’
allegations that the foreclosure sale is voi@ assult of defects in the assignment of tf
Deed of Trust directly contradicts Plaintiffgior allegations. As a result, the Court
finds Plaintiff lacks standing to challenge the nonjudicial foreclosure sale.

Furthermore, with respect to Plaintiff's fourth cause of action for fraudulent
concealment, Plaintiff has failed to @keehow each Defendant was under a duty to
disclose the alleged misrepresentationsndlusory allegations that “Defendants were
bound to disclose the truth of these matterg”iasufficient. Plaintiff must identify the
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role of each Defendant the alleged fraudulent schermdéCompl. § 103.) Moreover, a$

acknowledged by Defendantsetrelationship “between a lending institution and its
borrower-client is not fiduciary in natureNymark v. Heart Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass231
Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1093, n.1 283 Cal. Rptr. 53 (Cal. Ct. App. 1991). Similarly, loar
servicers, like lenders do not owertmwers any fiduciary obligation®owney v.
Humphreys102 Cal. App. 2d 323, 332, 227 P.2d 484 (Cal. Ct. App. 1951), and trug
have no duty to provide notice of the sakeept as specifically required by statugee
Cal. Civ. Code, § 2924q, subd. (die also Cal. Livestock Prod. Credit Assn. v. Sutfii
165 Cal. App. 3d 136, 141-142, 211 Cal. Rptr. 152 (Cal. Ct. App. 198%)h v.
Collins, 225 Cal. App. 3d 1104, 1111, 275 Cal. Rptr. 476 (Cal. Ct. App. 1990).

Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff's allegations fail to meet the requirements
Rule 9(b), fail to allege standing to ¢leage the nonjudicial foreclosure, and fail to
allege a duty by each Defendant to suppadwse of action for fraudulent concealmer
Accordingly, Plaintiff's second, third, andurth causes of action for intentional misrej
resentation, negligent misrepresematiand fraudulent concealment are DISMISSED
without prejudice.

C. Quiet Title

\4

—4

tees

—

of

Plaintiff’s fifth cause of action is for quiet title and seeks a judicial determination

of her fee simple title in the Property agsti Deutsche Bank as of August 17, 2006—t
date the Loan was executed. (Compl14-118.) Plaintiff alleges that Defendants
lacked standing to sell the Property at thet&®'s sale, and as a result, Plaintiff is the
actual owner of the Property because theeristsale is void and the transfer of the
Property to Aslan Residential I, LLC (the entibat purchased the Property at auction
without legal or equitable effectld( at 11 111, 114.) Defendants move to dismiss th
cause of action on the basis that Plaintiff cannot quiet title to the Property without [
or tendering the sums she borrowed against it. (Doc. No. 4 at 11.)

2|n response to Defendants’ pending motion to dismiss, Plaintiff did not offer
new allegzatlons as to how Defendants werder a “duty” to Plaintiff or otherwise
respond to Defendants’ arguments for dismissal.
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An action to quiet title may be brought to establish title against adverse claim
real property or any interest thereieeCal. Code Civ. Proc. § 760.020. To state a
claim for quiet title a plaintiff must set forth the following in a verified complaint: (1)
description of the property, botegal description and stresddress; (2) the title of the
plaintiff, and the basis for that title; (3) thdverse claims to the plaintiff's title; (4) the
date as of which the determination is sought] (5) a prayer for the determination of t
plaintiff's title against the adverse claim@al. Civ. Proc. Code § 761.020(a)-(e).
Moreover, “[ijn order to allege a claim tiet title, [a p]laintiff must allege tender or
offer of tender of the amounts borrowedRicon v. Recontrust CaNo.: 09¢cv936 IEG
(JMA), 2009 WL 2407396, at *6 (S.D. Cal. Aug. 4, 2008himpones v. Stickne319
Cal. 637, 649, 28 P.2d 673 (Cal. 1934) (“It is settled in California that a mortgagor
cannot quiet his title against the mortgagee without paying the debt secufegliilar v.
Bocci 39 Cal. App. 3d 475, 477, 114 Cal. Rptr. 91 (Cal. Ct. App. 1974) (holding thg
trustor is unable to quiet title “without discharging his debt”). The quiet title remedy
cumulative and not exclusive of any other regngorm or right of action, or proceeding
provided by law for establishing or quieting titteproperty.” Cal. Code Civ. Proc., 8§
760.030.

Although Plaintiff submitted a verified cordgmnt that provided the legal descrip-
tion of the Property, the date on which a judicial determination is sought, and a pra
determination of title, the Court finds R&ff has not allegethat Defendants have
asserted any adverse claims to title of thepPrty. Instead, Plaintiff alleges that GMA(
was the loan servicer, ETS was the substituted trustee, and MERS was the benefig
under the Deed of Trust. However, as of March 12, 2013, Aslan Residential I, LLC
been conveyed all rights, title, and interest to the Property as a result of the trustee
Thus, any claim to the Property must be maida, all, against Aslan Residential I, LLC
which appears to be the basis of Plaintiff's pending state court unlawful detainer ag

Even if the Court found Defendants GMAC, ETS, and MERS (the moving
Defendants) asserted a claim against the Piyg@laintiff has failed to plead facts that
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tend to show that she has a colorable claithedProperty. Plaintiff appears to assert |
has title to the Property because the trustedéesvgas void or invalid. However, Plaintif
also acknowledges that there is currentheading unlawful detainer action in San Die
Superior Court against Aslan ResidentidlUC, the entity that purchased the Property
the trustee’s sale. Thus, because a “mgm®nducted foreclosure sale constitutes a
final adjudication of the rights of the borromend lender, ” and Platiff has not alleged
any irregularities in the non-judicial foreslure sale, it appears the March 12, 2013 s:
resolved the ownership rights to the Propér§ee e.gKnapp v. Doherty123 Cal. App.
4th 76, 87, 20 Cal. Rptr. 3d 1 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004iJler v. Bank of N.Y,.No.:C 12-2942
PJH, 2013 WL 663928, at * 2 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 22, 2013) (“To the extent that plaintif
seeks to quiet title ‘now,’ he lacks standiogdo so, because the property at issue has
already been sold.”)Distor v. U.S. Bank NANo.: C 09-02086 SI, 2009 WL 3429700,
*6 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 22, 2009) (“[Blecause theoperty has already been sold, quiet title
no longer an appropriate action to seek to uhddoreclosure. Plaintiff's claim to title
has already been extinguishedNM)yvett v. Litton Loan Servicing, L.Ro.: CV-08-5797
MMC, 2010 WL 761317, *6 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 3, 2010) (“[P]laintiffs’ claim to the prop¢
Is extinguished as they allege and adimt property has been sold; consequently,
plaintiffs’ action to quiet title necessarily fails.”).

Furthermore, although a plaintiff is not required to make an evidentiary show
that he or she is able to tender theceexls due and owing on an outstanding debt be
pursuing an action to quiet title, the Court finds Plaintiff has not even alleged that s
“financially capable of tedering the loan proceedsMitchell v. Bank of AmNo.:
10cv432 L (WVG), 2011 WL 334988, *3 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 31, 2044¢;also Briosos v.
Wells Fargo Bank737 F. Supp. 2d 1018, 1029 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (“While Plaintiff hag
alleged an ‘ability to tender.” Plaintiff's allegation is conclusory and there are no ot
facts in the Complaint demonstrating such an ability.”). Requiring a plaintiff to “alle

® Plaintiff has gone to ample effort to persuade the Court that this is not a
foreclosure case, but rather a case basewoimact. (Doc. No. 12 at 1:8-15, 2:21-27,
3:1-7, 8:11-13, 9:4-10.)
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either the present ability to tender the Igaoceeds or the expectation that they will be

able to tender within a reasonable timeapgpropriate because “[iJt makes little sense
let the instant rescission claim proceed abseme indication that the claim will not
simply be dismissed at the summary judgment stage after needless depletion of th
parties’ and the Court’s resourceskbmero v. Countrywide Bank, N.Alo.: C 07-4491
JF (PVT), 2010 WL 2985539 (N.D. Cal. July 27, 2010).

Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff hasléal to state a viable claim for quiet title
and amendment of such claim would be futiBee Lopez v. Chase Home Fin., |LNO.
09-0449, 2009 WL 981676, at *7 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 9, 2009) (“If the foreclosure is

successful, title will change, and the quiet tdlaim is an improper means to challenge

14

[4%)

foreclosure.”). Accordingly, Plaintiff's fifth cause of action for quiet title is DISMISSED

with prejudice.

D. Declaratory Relief

Plaintiff's sixth cause of action is for declaratory relief and seeks a judicial
determination of the respective rights antiekiof the parties with respect to the
Property. (Compl. 11 119-126.) Defendants moveismiss this cause of action on th

e

basis that it is derivative of Plaintiff's other claims and thus also fails. (Doc. No. 4 at 12-

13.)

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a), “any court of the United States, upon the filing offan

appropriate pleading, may declare the rigirid other legal relations of any interested
party seeking such declaration, whethenair further relief is or could be sought.”

Declaratory relief should be denied if it will “neither serve a useful purpose in clarifying

and settling the legal relations in issue t@minate the proceedings and afford relief
from the uncertainty and controversy faced by the partigsited States v. Waslv59

F.2d 1353, 1356-57 (9th Cir. 1985). A claim for declaratory relief is unnecessary where

an adequate remedy exists under some other cause of ddaoown v. Cal-Western

Reconveyance CorpgNo. 09¢cv1101 JM (JMA), 2009 WL 2406335, at *6 (S.D. Cal. Aug.

4, 2009).
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Here, the Court finds Plaintiff's request for declaratory relief is entirely comm
surate with the relief sought through her ottemuses of action. Therefore, to the extel
Plaintiff is successful in any of her remangicauses of action, this claim is duplicative
and unnecessary. Accordingly, Plaintiff's sixth cause of action for declaratory relie
DISMISSED with prejudice.

E. TILA Violation

Plaintiff's seventh cause of action is for violation of TILA. (Compl. Y 127-13
Plaintiff alleges Defendants violated TILAL) by refusing and continuing to refuse to
validate or otherwise make a full accountaryl the required disclosures of the true
finance fees and charges; (2) improperlyirgtg funds belonging to Plaintiff; and (3)
failing to disclose the ownership of the loankl. &t 1129.) As a result of these allege
violations, Plaintiff seeks rescission or cdtate®n of the loan and a return of all funds
received by Defendants from Plaintiff, compensatory damages in an amount to be
determined at trial, attorneys’ fees, gnaitive damages in light of Defendants willful
and conscious disregard for Plaintiff's right$d. @t 1 130-133.) Defendants allege tt
Plaintiff's TILA claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations and should
dismissed without leave to amend.

1. TILA Damages Claim

TILA seeks to protect credit consumers by mandating “meaningful disclosure
credit terms.” 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a). Its provisions impose certain duties on credito
provide borrowers with clear and accuratectbsures of [the] terms [of their loan,
including] . . . finance charges, annualgmttage rates of interest, and the borrower’s
rights.” Beach v. Ocwen Fed. Bari3 U.S. 410, 412, 118 S. Ct. 1408, 140 L. Ed. 2
566 (1998) (citing 15 U.S.C. 88 1631, 1632, 1613%538). If a lender fails to satisfy
TILA’s disclosure requirements, it is liabler “statutory and actual damages traceabls
[its] failure to make the requisite disclosured: (citing 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1640(e)). A TILA
damages claim must be brought “within omafrom the date of the occurrence of thg
violation.” 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e). The statutory period generally “starts at the consu

16 13v743 AJB (JMA)

3.)

nat
be

of

S 1o

2 10

\1%4

Mnma




© 00 N oo O M~ W N PP

N NN NN N N NDND P B P B P P PP re
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N O o » W N B O

tion of the [loan] transaction.King v. Cal, 784 F.2d 910, 915 (9th Cir. 1986). How-
ever, equitable tolling may be appropriate ¢ertain circumstancgsuch as when a
borrower might not have had a reasonalgportunity to discover the nondisclosures g
the time of loan consummatiornd.

Here, the Court concludes Plaintiff faded to sufficiently allege a cause of
action against Defendants for damages undeATI&pecifically, Plaintiff fails to allege
which provisions of TILA Defendants alledjg violated, how each Defendant alleged|
violated the selected TILA provision(s), awtien such violations took place. Instead,
Plaintiff relies on conclusory allegationsattDefendants have improperly retained fun
belonging to Plaintiff, failed to disclosertie finance charges and fees,” and failed to
make a full accounting. Such bare bonegatens are not sufficient to put Defendant
on fair notice of how each Defendant failedorovide the required disclosures under
TILA.

Furthermore, Plaintiff's request for dages under TILA is subject to a one year
statute of limitations, typically running from the date the loan transaction was const

mated. 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e). Here, Plaintiff's loan was executed on August 17, 2(106,
til

(Doc. No. 5, Ex. 2; Compl., EXA), however Plaintiff did not file the instant action un
March 28, 2013, approximately six years, sewenths, and eleven days after the Log
closed. This is well beyond the one-yearitation period. Moreover, although Plaintif
alleges that she did not become aware ofdhts that form the basis of her TILA damg

claim until after Defendants initiated foreclga®ceedings against the Property, Plaing

fails to allege why she could not have discovered this alleged wrongdoing earlier.

Im-

n
f
ge
iff
Ther

IS no suggestion that Defendants prevented Plaintiff from comparing her loan document

and disclosures with the TILA requiremeng&ee, e.g., Garcia v. Wachovia Mortg.
Corp., 676 F. Supp. 2d 895, 906 (C.D. Cal. 2009) (“Nothing prevented [the plaintiff]
from comparing the loan contract, [the lendgingtial disclosures, and TILA'’s statutory
and regulatory requirement) (citation omitted)Meyer v. Ameriquest Mortg. C&42
F.3d 899, 902 (9th Cir. 2003) (stating that thidure to make the required disclosures
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occurred, if at all, at the time the loan dotents were signed because the plaintiff wa
aware of the disclosures, or lack of properldsares, at that time)Therefore, the Cour
finds Plaintiff has failed to allege whighrovisions of TILA were violated, how each
Defendant allegedly violated such provisgn@nd why equitable tolling is applicable.
Accordingly, Plaintiff's TILA damages claim is DISMISSED without prejudice.
2. Rescission Claim
In additional to a claim for damages, TILA allows an obligor to rescind a loan

transaction under certain circumstances. Hm@wrean obligor’s right of rescission undgr

TILA expires, at the latest, “three years afttee date of consummation of the transacti
or upon the sale of the propertyhichever occurs first 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) (emphasis

)

on

added)King, 784 F.2d 910, 915 (9th Cir. 1986). “Consummation means the time that a

consumer becomes contractually obligated on a credit transaction.” 12 C.F.R. 8
226.2(a)(13). Section 1635(f) is an “abselliitation on rescission actions,” and bar

S

any claim filed more than three years after tonsummation of the transaction or salg of

the subject propertyKing, 784 F.2d at 913%ee also Miguel v. Cnty. Funding Carf09

F.3d 1161, 1164-65 (9th Cir. 2002). To exercise the right to rescind, a borrower must

“notify the creditor of the rescission by mdgjegram or other means of written comm
nication.” 12 C.F.R. § 226.23(a)(2).

Under this statutory scheme, the latesiiff could have exercised her right to
rescind would have been three yearsrdfie loan transaction, (August 17, 2006), or
upon the sale of the Property, whichever occurred f8sel5 U.S.C. § 1635(f). Here,
although the Property was sold at publictamrcon March 12, 2013, (Doc. No. 5, Ex. 7
3), Plaintiff consummated her Loan on Augigi 2006, (Doc. No. 1, Ex. A). Therefort
even though Plaintiff alleges that her TILA rescission claim is not barred by the sal
the Property because an unlawful detaawion is currently pending in San Diego
Superior Court, Plaintiff's rescissionao nonetheless expired on August 17, 2009 (q
to the sale of the Property), three yeatsrahe consummation of her Loan. Accord-
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ingly, the Court finds Plaintiff's TILA rescission claim is barred by the applicable stg
of limitations and is therefore DISMISSED with prejudice.
F. RESPA

ptute

Plaintiff's eighth cause of action alleges Defendants violated RESPA by placing

loans for the purpose of unlawfully increasmgotherwise obtaining yield spread fees
and sums in excess of what would have Haerfully earned. (Compl. 1 136.) Plaintiff

also alleges that Defendants violated RESPA because the servicing contract or du

were transferred or hypothecated without the required notideat(f] 137.) Defendants
move to dismiss this cause of action on the ground that it is time-barred.

12 U.S.C. § 2607(a) provides that “[rderson shall give and no person shall
accept any fee, kickback, or thing of valpursuant to any agreement or understandin
oral or otherwise, that business incidenbt@ part of a real estate settlement service
involving a federally related mortgage loarakibe referred to any person.” 12 U.S.C.
2605(b)(1) & (d) provides that “[e]ach serviadrany federally related mortgage loan
shall notify the borrower in writing of any assigem, sale, or transfer of the servicing
the loan to any other person” and tHd{uring the 60-day period beginning on the
effective date of transfer of the servicingamly federally related mayage loan, a late fe
may not be imposed on the borrower.” “8eer” is defined in the statute as, “the
person responsible for servicing of a Iqacluding the person who makes or holds a
loan if such person also services the Jdai2 U.S.C. 8§ 2605(i)(2). RESPA contains @
one year statute of limitations for any action brought pursuant to the above provisic
Seel2 U.S.C. § 2614.

The Court concludes Plaintiff has failexstate a claim against Defendants und
RESPA. For example, the complaint fails to allege when anyealleiolation of RESPA
occurred in relation to the alleged iebpread Premium (*YSP”), and how each
individual Defendant should/would be liable,&sntrust was the original lender of the

Loan. (Compl. 1 136.) Furthermore, fedexatl state courts have rejected the proposi

tion that YSPs are illegal per s€ee Bjustrom v. Trust One Mortg. Corg22 F.3d 1201
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1206 (9th Cir. 2003)Byars v. SCME Mortg. Bankers, Ina09 Cal. App. 4th 1134,
1143-44, 135 Cal. Rptr. 2d 796 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003). In addition, Plaintiff makes of
conclusory allegations that Defendantil@Mortgage, Defendant BAC Home Loans,
and the Doe Defendants were either individualyointly “Servicers” of Plaintiff's loan

as defined under 26 U.S.C. 8§ 2605(B). Plaimidés not allege when any such transfefr(s)

took place, or how the moving Defenda(GMAC, ETS, and MERS) are liable.
Moreover, Plaintiff does notlage any damage as a résaf the alleged failure to
provide the required notice&seel2 U.S.C. § 2605(f)(1) (borrow can recover “any actu
damages to the borrow as a result of the failu Finally, as stated above, because th
Loan was consummated in 2006, and this action was not commenced until 2013, H
has failed to sufficiently allege why this claim should not be barred by the one-year
limitation period. Accordingly, Plaintiff's ghth cause of action for violations of RESI
is DISMISSED without prejudice.

G. HOEPA Violation

Plaintiff’'s ninth cause of action allegesrth@an is in violation of HOEPA becaus;
it was placed and administered without regard for Plaintiff’'s income or cash flow an
with the intention of inducing Plaintiff's dault. (Compl. { 143.) Plaintiff further
alleges that she became aware of this timt&‘'upon the discovery of Defendants’ inte
to wrongfully foreclose and sell the propertyld.(at § 144.) Defendants seek dismiss
of this cause of action on the ground that is time-barred. (Doc. No. 4 at 6-7.)

“HOEPA is an amendment of TILAnd therefore is governed by the same
remedial scheme and statutes of limitations as TILAdmilton v. Bank of Blue Valley
746 F. Supp. 2d 1160, 1179 (E.D. Cal. 201@aton and internal quotation marks
omitted). Therefore, claims for rescission are subject to the three-year statute of i
tions and claims for damages are subject to the one-year statute of limit&#malso
Kemezis v. MattheviNo.: 075086, 2008 WL 2468377, at *3 (E.D. Pa. June 16, 2008
(“HOEPA is an amendment of TILA, anddiefore is governed by the same remedial
scheme and statutes of limitations as TILA.I\. order to be subject to the protections
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afforded by HOEPA, one of two factors hastestablished—either the annual perce
age rate of the loan at consummation nexsieed by more than ten percent the applic

nt-
able

yield on treasury securities, or the total points and fees payable by the consumer at or

before closing has to be greater tlegght percent of the total amoureel5 U.S.C. 8

1602(aa)(1) & (3)see also Lynch v. RKS Mortg., In888 F. Supp. 2d 1254, 1260 (E.D.
Cal. 2008). In addition, HOEPA expresslckides “residential mortgage transactions.

15 U.S.C. § 1602(aa). Among other things, a residential mortgage transaction is fo
purpose of “financ[ing] the acquisition oritial construction of such dwelling.” Id. §
1602(w).

Here, Plaintiff fails to allege facts support a finding that the Loan at issue is
covered by HOEPASeel5 U.S.C. § 1602(aa)(1) (describing loans to which HOEPA
disclosure requirements apply). Plaintiff mgretates that the Loan falls within the
purview of HOEPA. (Compl.  142.) Sucbnclusory allegations are not sufficient.
Furthermore, since the same statute of limitations applies to Plaintiffs HOEPA clai
her TILA claims, the claims are time-barreficcordingly, Plaintiff’'s ninth cause of
action for violation of HOEPA is DISMISSED without prejudice.

H. FDCPA

Plaintiff's tenth cause of action is for violation of the FDCPA. (Compl. 11 146
150.) Plaintiff alleges that Defendants atebt collectors,” and that Defendants did n
respond to Plaintiff's requests for validatiof the debt as required under the FDCPA.
(Id. at 11 147-149.) Defendants move to dismiss this cause of action on the groun
loan servicer is not a “debt collector” dsfined under the FDCPA, and foreclosing on
property pursuant to a deed of trust is ntdebt collection activity.” (Doc. No. 4 at 7-
8.)

The declared purpose of the FDCPAaseliminate abusive debt collection
practices by debt collectors . . . and to pranmnsistent state action to protect consu
ers against debt collection abuses.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692. To state a claim under the
FDCPA, “a plaintiff must allege facts thestablish the following: (1) the plaintiff has
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been the object of collection activity anig from a consumer debt; (2) the defendant
attempting to collect the debt qualifies ddebt collector’ under the FDCPA; and (3) tf
defendant has engaged in a prohibited act or has failed to perform a requirement ir
by the FDCPA.” Adesokan v. U.S. Bank, N.2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125591, 2011 W

e
npos
L

5341178, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 31, 2011). The FDCPA defines “debt collector” as gne

who collects consumer debts owed to anotlié U.S.C. § 1692(a)(6). The term does
not include any person who collects any daléd or due to the extent such activity
concerns a debt which “was originated by such person” or “was not in default at thg
it was obtained by such person.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(ii), (ii). The FDCPA'’s
definition of debt collector “does not include the consumer’s creditors, a mortgage
servicing company, or any assignee of the debt, so long as the defutwasefault at
the time it was assignédNool v. HomeQ Servicin53 F. Supp. 2d 1047, 1053 (E.D
Cal. 2009) (quotingPerry v. Steward Title Cp756 F.2d 1197, 1208 (5th Cir. 1985))
(emphasis added).

The Ninth Circuit has yet to determindaireclosure proceedings constitute “del
collection” within the ambit of the FDCPA, buatost district courts within the circuit
have found that they do nogee, e.g., Garfinkle v. JPMorgan Chase B&t.1 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 81054, 2011 WL 3157157 (N.D. Cal. July 26, 2011) (collecting cases);
see Wilson v. Draper & Goldberg PLI.@43 F.3d 373, 376—77 (4th Cir. 2006) (concl

ing that a plaintiff's “ ‘debt’ remained aébt’ even after foreokure proceedings com-
menced” and the actions “surrounding theetdosure proceedings were attempts to
collect that debt.”)Carter v. Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust C2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
44984, 2010 WL 1875718, at *1-2 (N.D. Cal. May 7, 2010) (discussing split in autk
and declining to dismiss plaintiff@DCPA claim at the pleading stage).

Here, although Plaintiff algees Defendants are “debt collectors,” she fails to
specifically allege facts indicating that any of the Defendant are “debt collectors” ag
defined under the FDCPA. Conclusory alliegias simply parroting the language of the

statute will not suffice. Furthermore, Plaintiff admits in the complaint that Defendar
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GMAC is the “loan servicer for the subject loaithis action.” (Compl. § 8.) Therefor

because “[a] mortgage seriig company is not a debt collector within the meaning of

the FDCPA,” Plaintiff cannot maintas FDCPA claim against Defendant GMAC.
Jelsing v. MIT LendingNo. 10cv416 BTM (NLS), 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68515, 201
WL 2731470 (S.D. Cal. July 9, 2010). Moreover, although it remains unclear whet
ETS or MERS is a “debt collector,” Plaif nevertheless fails to state a claim for
violation of the FDCPA against either Defendant because Plaintiff does not allege 1t
either ETS or MERS “attempted to colleatdebt” from Plaintiff. Even if Plaintiff
alleged that the foreclosure action was an fapteto collect a debt,” the law is unsettle
as to whether foreclosure proceediegsstitute collection of a debNool, 653 F. Supp.
2d at 1053 (quotin@erry, 756 F.2d at 1208). Furthermore, Plaintiff does not allege
when, or to whom she “requested validatiofi'the debt, or how Defendants responde
Therefore, the Court finds Plaintiff's allegens are insufficient to state a claim for
violation of the FDCPA, andmendment would be futileebause the Loan was not in
default before it was assign&dAccordingly, Plaintiff's tenth cause of action for
violation of the FDCPA is DISMISSED with prejudice.
CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth above, the Court GRARN&fendants’ motion to

dismiss. (Doc. No. 4.) Specifically, the Court makes the following findings:
1. GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss with respect to the First Causg
Action (UCL), Second Cause of Acti (intentional misrepresentation),
Third Cause of Action (negligent misrepresentation), Fourth Cause of
Action (fraudulent concealment), Seviertause of Action (TILA damages
claim), Eighth Cause of Action (RESPA), and Ninth Cause of Action
(HOEPA damages claim) without prejudice.

* Plaintiff did not specifically respond to Defendants arguments for dismissal
the FDCPA cause of action in her response. (Doc. No. 12.)

23 13v743 AJB (JMA)

1%

D
ner

hat

d

how,
d.

\V
o
—n

of




© 00 N oo O M~ W N PP

e =
= O

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

2. GRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss with respect to the Fifth Causs
Action (quiet title), Sixth Cause of Action (declaratory relief), Seventh
Cause of Action (TILA rescission claim), and Tenth Cause of Action
(FDCPA) with prejudice.

3. Plaintiff may file an amended cofamt to cure the deficiencies noted
above. No new parties or claimsyrize added without leave of Court.
Failure to file an amended complaint ily 5, 2013will result in dismissal

of the action.
IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED: June 4, 2013 i y -

_g/' - iﬂme’/é(u
Hon. A_n‘fhong J. Battaglia
U.S. District Judge
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